A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner. Salvador Nava. the appellant below. asks this Court to 

review the Court of Appeals decision referred to in Section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Nava requests review of the Court of Appeals decision in State v. 

Salvador Nava. _ Wn. App. _. _P. 3d. _. 2013 WL 5728047 

(Court of Appeals No."s 28222-8-lll and 30001-3-III). filed October 22. 

2013). published in part. Appendix. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. The trial court ruled the statements a number of witnesses 

gave to police were admissible under ER 8.3(a)(5). The State. however. 

failed to meet its burden of showing the accuracy. truth and indicia of 

reliability of the statements. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial 

court's ruling despite the State's failure to meet its burden. Did the trial 

court erroneouslv admit those statements? 

Should this Court accept review of this issue where the Court of 

Appeals decision conflicts with Division One decisions governing the 

admission of hearsay statements under ER 803(a)(5). and this Court has 

never definitively ruled on what factors govern admission of hearsay 

statements under ER 803(a)(5)? 
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2. Where the State failed to establish by a preponderance of 

the evidence the existence of a gang. that petitioner was a member of a 

gang. that the victim was a member of a gang. or that the murder was gang 

related retaliation. did the court err in admitting evidence of gang activity? 

Should this Court accept review where the Court of Appeals 

decision conflicts with a Division Two decision holding gang evidence is 

inadmissible unless the State shows a nexus between the crime and a 

defendant's gang activity? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Salvador Nava was convicted of first degree murder for the killing 

of Antone Masovero, and four counts of assault. CP 62-73. The Court of 

Appeals affim1ed his convictions but reversed the trial court· s sentence 

holding the court's exceptional sentence below the standard range was not 

supported by sufficient findings. Slip. Op. at 48-49. 

On May 13, 2001. shortly after midnight. Mark Lewis. a reserve 

officer with the Tieton Police Department. was working traffic safety 

control when he heard gunshots. RP 14-16. 1 Lewis saw muzzle flashes 

coming from near a taco vendor"s truck in the Glesener·s Market parking 

lot. RP 16. 33. 169. Lewis drove towards the area when a car passed him 

and turned into a fire station. RP 17. Lewis pulled in behind the car and 

1 See. Brief of Appellant at 3. n.2 for the index to the citations to the record. 
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discovered Antone Masovero dead in the back seat of the car on the 

driver's side. RP 30. 169. Masovero was shot twice on the left side ofhis 

head near his left ear at a distance of about three feet. RP 420. 517-519. 

At the time of the shooting. Guadalupe Tovar and her husband 

Angel Rojas were sitting in their parked car by the taco truck. RP 65-67, 

71-72. They saw two cars arrive. one white and one maroon. Tovar said 

two men from the white car walked over the maroon car and she heard 

gunshots. RP 67. Rojos, however. said only one man approached the 

maroon car and he exchanged words with the people inside the car. RP 

74-75. The man went back to another car and then returned to the maroon 

car. RP 7 5. The man put his hand inside the rear window of the maroon 

car and Rojas heard two gunshots. RP 75. 

On the night of the shooting. Alicia Velasquez. Maribelle Olivas. 

Sandra, Lance Nanamkin and Nava were together. RP 389. According to 

Velasquez. they went to a Quinceanera in Selah. When it was over they 

decided to go to the taco truck at Glesener's Market to get something to 

eat. RP 390. There. they met up with Marisa Perez and Perez's husband. 

RP 391. 

Everyone except Olivas got out of her car. RP 391. A car drove 

by and then returned and parked nearby. RP 392. Velasquez heard people 

who were standing in the parking lot arguing with the people in the car 
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that had just parked. She then heard gunshots. RP 393. Velasquez got 

into Olivas's car with Olivas and they left. RP 394. According to 

Velasquez no one else left with them. RP 394. 396. Velasquez did not see 

Nava with a gun or approach the parked car. RP 393-394. 

Maribelle Olivas vaguely remembered being in the area at the 

time. She did not recall hearing any gunshots. RP 328. Police 

interviewed her sometime in May 2001 but she did not remember what she 

told police or if what she did tell police was true because she was drinking 

at the time. RP 327. 329. 

Olivas· s police interview was recorded. and the court admitted the 

interview as a recorded recollection over defense counsel"s objections. RP 

362-363, 368-381. Olivas told police she, Velasquez, Andres Orozco, 

Nanamkin. and Nava went to a Quinceanera in Selah. RP 368-370. 2 

They then decided to get something to eat at a nearby taco truck. RP 370. 

They parked behind the taco truck and everyone got out of the car except 

Olivas who moved over into the driver's seat. RP 371-372. 

Olivas was talking to Velasquez. who was standing outside the car. 

when she had a feeling something was going to happen so she asked 

Velasquez to get the others so they could leave. RP 374. At about the 

same time Olivas saw Anthony Martinez's car drive through the parking 

2 The contents of this and the recorded interviews of other witnesses that were also 
played for the jury were transcribed verbatim. Petitioner cites to the transcription. 
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lot. RP 374. She heard words exchanged between Nava and Nanamkin 

and the people in Martinez's car. RP 3 75. The driver of Martinez's car 

started to get out and it looked like he was trying to pull out a gun. RP 

374-375. Olivas then heard gunshots and Velazquez and Orozco jumped 

into her car and all three left together. ld. Olivas saw Nava and 

Nanamkin with guns. Nava pointed a gun at Martinez's car. RP 376-377. 

Olivas explained she was in drug court at the time of the shooting 

and was drinking. She told police what she thought they wanted to hear to 

avoid a drug court violation. RP 383-384. 

Andres Orozco testified he and Nava were present when the 

shooting occurred but Orozco did not remember much because he was 

drunk and on drugs. RP 85-86. 165. He was interviewed by police a 

month after the shooting but he was drunk then as well. RP 90-93. He 

said he lied to police when he gave his statement. RP 93-94. 165. 

Orozco's police interview was recorded and over defense counsel's 

objections. the court allowed the State to play the recorded interview to 

the jury. RP 109-115. 130-131. 148-150. Orozco told police he was with 

friends, including Nava and Nanamkin. RP 154-155. When the 

Quinceanera they were at was over they went to the taco truck at the 

Market. After they got out of the car a man started saying "shit." RP 15 5. 

Orozco confronted the man and the man ran. RP 155-156. Two other cars 
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then arrived and started throwing "signs:· RP 156-157. Orozco then saw 

Nava firing a revolver. RP 157-158. 

After the shots were fired. Orozco jumped m the car driven by 

Olivas and contrary to Velasquez's testimony. he said he and Olivas left 

alone. RP 160, 162. Orozco told police Nava probably shot at the car 

because he believed someone in the car was going to shoot him. RP 161. 

Maria Perez was also near the taco truck with her husband but did 

not recall who fired the shots. RP 425-426. Police interviewed Perez in 

May 2001 and she consented to the interview because she was scared. RP 

427. 451. She was scared because police told her that her husband would 

be jailed and her baby taken away. RP 427. Again, over defense 

counsel's objection. the court admitted the interview. RP 459- 461. 

Perez told police she. her husband and some friends were at the 

Quinceanera in Selah when they decided to go to the taco truck. RP 466-

467. Perez·s husband. who was Nava·s friend. called Nava and told Nava 

to meet them. RP 467-468. About 20 minutes later Nava arrived with 

two girls and two other men. Nanamkin was one of the two men who 

were with Nava. RP 468,610. 

According to Perez. at some point Nava began arguing with people 

in another car. RP 471. That car parked and the car·s driver threatened to 

shoot. RP 472. A person in the back seat of the car had a weapon so Nava 
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went to the car he came in and got a gun. Meanwhile, Nanamkin threw a 

beer can at the car. RP 472-473. Nava returned with a gun, fired at the 

car and the car left. RP 4 73. Perez said Nanamkin shot at the car as well 

but his gun did not fire. RP 4 79. 

Peter Lopez was Masovero' s friend and was in Martinez's car 

when Masovero was shot. RP 219, 221. Police also interviewed Lopez 

after the shooting. He did not remember the interview. RP 220. 222. His 

recorded interview was also played for the jury. RP 240-242. 

Lopez told police he was riding around on the night of the shooting 

with Jose Belmonte, Anthony Martinez, who was driving the car. Jess 

Lopez. who was in the front seat with Martinez. and Masovero. who as 

sitting next to Lopez in the back seat behind Martinez. RP 245-246. At 

some point they decided to get something to eat at the taco truck by 

Glesener's Market. RP 248-249. When they arrived Lopez was about to 

get out of the car when he heard two gunshots. RP 249-250. He dropped 

down and told Martinez to drive. RP 250. When police stopped the car. 

Lopez looked over and sav.· that Masovero had been shot in the head. RP 

250-251. Lopez said nothing about an argument prior to the shooting. 

Lopez said that Masovero had talked to him about an incident a 

week earlier where a person named Victor Serrano was shot in front of 

Masovero's mother's house. RP 251. Masovero was not worried about 
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the Serrano shooting. however. he could not believe it happened in front of 

his mother's house. RP 251. 255. 

Jose Belmonte was also in the Martinez car. RP 260. When the 

group arrived at the taco truck. someone shot at the car near the back 

passenger window. RP 263. Belmonte ducked and felt a bullet whiz 

through his jacket. RP 263. He too savv that Masovero had been shot in 

the head. RP 264. Belmonte testified there were no arguments before the 

shots were fired. RP 26 7. 

In July 2008. Nava was arrested in El Paso Texas on a Washington 

State warrant as he entered the United States from Mexico. RP 571-574. 

627. When questioned by El Paso police. Nava denied any involvement in 

the shooting. RP 576. Nava told police he was working in the fields in 

Mexico and decided to move back to the United States to work with his 

father so he could make more money. RP 629. 

E. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AND 
ARGUMENTS 

1. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ADMITTED THE 
STATEMENTS OLIVAS. PEREZ AND ORZOCO MADE 
TO POLICE. THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW 
BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 
CONCLICTS WITH THE DIVISION ONE DECISION IN 
ALVARADO. AND THIS COURT HAS NOT 
DIFINITVEL Y ADDRESSED THE FACTORS 
GOVERNING ADMISSION OF HEARSAY 
STATEMENTS UNDER ER 803(A)(5). 
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The court admitted the police interviews with Olivas. Orozco and 

Perez under ER 803(a)(5). Nava argued on appeal those interviews were 

improperly admitted because the test for admission under ER 803(a)(5) 

was not met. Brief of Appellant at 12-20. 

The Court of Appeals disagreed. Slip. Op. at 2. In the published 

part of its decision the court cone! uded that despite the witnesses 

disavowal of the truth of their statements to police. and their admitted 

intoxication at the time of the shooting and when the statements were 

made, the trial court properly admitted their statements. Slip. Op. at 31. 

The Court of Appeals, however. recognized that "No Washington decision 

has presented the disavowal of a witness that is as forceful as those 

presented here ..... Slip. Op. at 24. The court's conclusion the hearsay 

statements were admissible is legally incorrect. 

Although hearsay. ER 803(a)(5) permits admission of statements 

of "recorded recollection." ; Division One is the only Washington 

appellate court that has directly confronted the issue of the admission of 

statements under ER 803(a)(5). It has ruled the admission of statements 

' A recorded recollection is defined as: "A memorandum or record concerning a matter 
about which a witness once had knowledge but now has insufficient recollection to 
enable the witness to testi(v fully and accurate!). shown to have been made or adopted by 
the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory and to reflect that 
knowledge correctly. If admitted. the memorandum or record may be read into evidence 
but may not itself be received as an exhibit unless offered b) an adverse party.'' ER 
803(a)(5). 
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under ER 803(a)(5) is only proper when the following factors are met: (1) 

the record pertains to a matter about which the witness once had 

knowledge: (2) the witness has an insufficient recollection of the matter to 

provide truthful and accurate trial testimony; (3) the record was made or 

adopted by the witness when the matter was fresh in the witness' memory; 

and ( 4) the record reflects the witness' prior knowledge accurately. State 

v. White, 152 Wn. App. 173, 183. 215 P.3d 251 (2009): State v. Alvarado, 

89 Wn. App. 543, 548. 949 P.2d 831 (1998): State v. Mathes. 4 7 Wn. 

App. 863, 867-68. 737 P.2d 700 (1987). 

The fourth factor was the subject of much discussion in Alvarado. 

Rather than requiring direct assertion of accuracy at triaL courts must 

consider the totality of circumstances. including (I) whether the declarant 

disavows accuracy; (2) whether the witness claimed accuracy when she 

made the statement; (3) whether the recording process was reliable; and 

( 4) whether other indicia of reliability establishment the accuracy of the 

statement. Alvarado. 89 Wn. App. at 551-52: State v. White. 152 Wn. 

App. at 184: State v. Derouin. 116 Wn. App. 38. 46. 64 P.3d 35 (2003). 

Under the Alvarado factors the Olivas. Orozco and Perez's 

hearsay statements were inadmissible. 

a. Maribelle Olivas 
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Olivas did not remember what she told police or if what she did 

tell police was true because she was drinking at the time and she was hung 

over at the interview. RP 327, 329, 360. Olivas was also in court ordered 

treatment at the time and did not want to get into trouble so she merely 

told police what she thought they wanted to hear. RP 360. This was a 

disavowal of her statements in the interview. Moreover. at the end of the 

interview Olivas indicated her answers to the questions she was asked 

during the interview were truthful (RP 349), but that was only after she 

initially denied she was even at the scene. RP 352. Her initial denial 

shows Olivas is willing to lie to police. Olivas also had a motive to lie to 

police and implicate Nava in the shooting to minimize any potential 

criminal liability because of her involvement. 

Olivas disavowed the accuracy of her statement to police. The 

record does not show the statements made by Olivas during here recorded 

interview with police were accurate or had the indicia of reliability. Under 

the Alverado test the State failed to meet the first factor, that the record 

pertains to a matter about which the witness once had knowledge and it 

reflects the witness' prior knowledge accurately. 

b. Andres Orozco 

Orozco did not remember the incident because he was drunk and 

on drugs at the time and was drunk when police interviewed him. RP 85-
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86, 90-93, 165. His intoxication militates against a finding that he had an· 

accurate memory of the event. After listening to the interview, Orozco 

said he lied to police. RP 145. Orozco also had a motive to lie to police. 

Witnesses placed Orozco at the scene and he was engaged in a verbal 

altercation just before the shooting. Orozco had every incentive to name 

someone else as the shooter to divert police attention away from him. In 

addition, his rendition of some of the events was inconsistent with the 

rendition of other witnesses. Orozco, for example. told police after 

shooting he jumped in the car driven by Olivas and the two of them left 

alone. RP 139. 141. Olivas, however. told police Velasquez was also in 

the car. RP 377. According to Velasquez she and Olivas left alone. RP 

394, 396. 

Although, Orozco indicated during the interview that his answers 

to police questions were true (RP 122). Orozco explicitly disavowed the 

statements he made at the interview, admitted they were lies, was 

intoxicated both at the time of the incident and when he spoke with police, 

and had a motive to lie to police. The State failed to meet the Alverado 

test. 

c. Maria Perez 

A few days after the shooting police executed a search warrant to 

search for drugs at Perez·s home. RP 208-209. Police found handguns 
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and drugs. RP 209. Perez was scared because police told her that her 

husband was going to go to jail and her baby taken from her. Id.; RP 427. 

When police threatened to arrest her. she started crying and told police she 

would talk to them about the shooting. RP 458. 

Perez did not remember much about the shooting or what she told 

police. RP 429. After listening to her interview. Perez testified she was 

trying to protect her husband. RP 452. At the time of the shooting Nava's 

head was shaved as was her husband's head. and he was dressed in the 

same clothing as Perez's husband. According to Perez. people believed 

her husband was the shooter and she received death threats directed 

towards her and her husband. RP 441-442, 4 76. Perez believed her 

husband was a suspect in the shooting and was trying protect him when 

she spoke with police. Perez had a clear motive to lie to police. By telling 

police Nava was the shooter. it is reasonable to infer Perez hoped it would 

dispel the suspicion of police and others that her husband was the shooter. 

Furthermore. Perez·s rendition of events contradicts the statements 

or testimony of other witnesses. Perez said her husband called Nava and 

told him to meet them at the taco truck. None of the other witnesses who 

were with Nava that evening mentioned anything about Nava receiving a 

phone call. Perez also told police Nava went and got a gun from the car 

he was riding in. Again, none of the other witnesses. including Olivas 
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who never left the car. said anything about Nava retrieving a gun from the 

car. Perez said Nava was arguing with the people in Martinez's car before 

the shooting. however. the witnesses who were in Martinez's car testified 

there was no argument. 

Under the Alverado test, Perez's statements to police at the 

interview were neither accurate nor have an indicia of reliable. Perez's 

statements, like the statements made by Olivas and Orozco were 

improperly admitted. 

In its decision. the Court of Appeals purports to follow the factors 

identified by Division One for determining the admissibility of recorded 

recollections under ER 803(a)(5). Slip. Op. at 25. But. instead of 

analyzing the admission of Olivas, Orozco. and Perez's hearsay statements 

under that test it found the statements were properly admitted because the 

tape-recorded interviews were "audible and clear.'· the witnesses answered 

the question in "their own words,·· each acknowledged the recordings as 

the record of "his or her questioning" by police, and each stated in the 

recorded interview their statements were true. Slip. Op. at 29. Whether 

the recording of a declarant's statements are audible. and in their own 

words and acknowledged as accurate at the time the statements were made 

does not fully address the salient question of whether the record reflects 

the witness' prior knowledge accurately. Under the Alvarado factors the 
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important considerations are whether the declarant disavows the accuracy 

of the statement and whether other indicia of reliability establishes the 

accuracy of the statement. Alvarado. 89 Wn. App. at 551-52. The record 

shows each witness disavowed the accuracy of his or her statements. The 

record also shows there are multiple reasons why the statements were not 

reliable. The trial court erred in admitting the statements. 

The Court of Appeals analysis conflicts with the analysis in a long 

line of Division One cases. most notably Alvarado. Moreover. this Court 

has yet to provide trial courts guidance on the factors courts should use to 

determine whether a recorded recollection is admissible under ER 

803(a)(5). For these reasons, this Court should accept review. RAP 

13 .4(b )(2) and ( 4 ). This Court should affim1 the trial court and reverse the 

Court of Appeals decision. 

2. THE TRIAL COURT ADMITTED GANG EVIDENCE 
DESPITE THE STATE'S FAILURE TO SHOW A 
NEXUS BETWEEN THE CRIME AND GANG 
ACTIVITY. AND THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT 
REVIEW BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS 
DECISION AFFIRMING THE TRIAL COURT'S 
RULING CONFLICTS WITH THE DIVISION TWO 
DECISION IN ASAELI. 

The State moved to admit evidence of gang activity based on a 

theory Masovero was shot to avenge Victor Serrano's murder a few weeks 

earlier. RP 6 (1/26/2009). Its theory was that Masovero and Serrano were 
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members of different gangs. Nava and Nanamkin were members of 

Serrano's gang and Nava shot Masovero because Masovero was involved

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