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

D. ARGUMENT 
l. Standards of Review. 

RAP 13 .4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of 
Review.; 

This case does not!) Conflict with any decision by this court, the 

claim that the Court of Appeals ruling is incorrect is baseless. This allegation 

is based on a reading of the courts decision which is incorrect and does not 
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take into account the plain meaning of that ruling nor the facts of the case hot 

the standard set forth in Alvarado, infra.;~ This ruling does not conflict with 

any ruling by any other division of the Court of Appeals or for that matter any 

court. This issue has been ruled on previously as indicated by the cases cited 

by the Court of Appeals. 3) The ruling of the Court of Appeals does not raise 

a significant question under either the State or Federal Constitution; the ruling 

merely reiterates the proof standard needed to support the introduction of 

evidence pursuant to court rule and case law. 

As the Court of Appeals stated "Decisions involving evidentiary issues 

lie largely within the sound discretion of the trial court and ordinarily will not 

be reversed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. State v. 

Castellanos. 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997). A trial court abuses its 

discretion if it improperly applies an evidence rule. State v. Young. 160 

Wn.2d 799, 806, 161 P.3d 967 (2007). Here, Mr. Nava's challenge focuses on 

the trial court's determination of a preliminary question concerning the 

admissibility of evidence." (Slip opinion at 20-1) 

2. Argument 

RECORDED RECOLLECTION 

This ruling does not conflict with State v. Alvarado 89 Wash.App. 

543, 551, 949 P.2d 831 (1998) Alvarado has withstood the test of time. The 

Court in Nava clearly adopted and applied Alvarado: 
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We nonetheless find the reasoning of Alvarado, Porter, 
and like cases persuasive, even when it means that a trial court 
might admit a record that a witness has disavowed. (Slip 
opinion at 25) 

The Court of Appeals opinion then addresses the fourth factor from 

Alvarado that Nava now claims the courts below incorrectly applied; 

Most important is that the language ofER 803(a)(5) 
providing the basis for the fourth element of the foundation-its 
requirement that the memorandum or record "reflect [the 
witness's former] knowledge correctly"-provides no textual 
basis for requiring that the witness personally vouch for the 
accuracy of the recorded statement. The well settled statement 
of the fourth element of the foundation-"that the record reflects 
the witness's prior knowledge accurately"--does not require 
personal vouching by the witness either. The Advisory 
Committee's Note accompanying Fed. R. Evid. 803(a)(5) when 
proposed in 1972 states, in part, that "[n]o attempt is made in 
the exception [for recorded recollections] to spell out the 
method of establishing the initial knowledge or the 
contemporaneity and accuracy of the record, leaving them to be 
dealt with as the circumstances of the particular case might 
indicate." 56 F.R.D. 183,307 (1973). ER 803(a)(5) was copied 
verbatim from Fed. R. Evid. 803(a)(5). See ER 803(a)(5) at 91 
Wn.2d 1165 (1978); cmt. 803 at 91 Wn.2d 1168. 

Of great importance is the following section of the Nava opinion: 

In no other context is a fact finder expected to 
determine what a person knew or believed by relying 
exclusively on what that person claims he or she knew or 
believed. This is so even in applying other exceptions to the 
hearsay rule that depend on the reliability we ascribe to certain 
types of out-of-court statements. For example, we do not 
automatically accept a recanting witness's protestation that 
what appeared to others to be her excited utterance was 
actually a fabrication. In Young, a child victim made seemingly 
distraught statements after being sexually molested by her 
mother's boyfriend, only to claim later that she was lying. Our 

4 



Supreme Court held that "'the trial court does not err by 
weighing the witness's credibility against the evidence 
indicating that the statements were spontaneous and reliable."' 
160 Wn.2d at 808 (quoting State v. Briscoeray, 95 Wn. App. 
167, 173,974 P.2d 912 (1999)). The same should be true here. 
As observed in Derouin, 116 Wn. App. at 46, "(O]ther 
evidence establishing the accuracy of [a recorded recollection] 
could be just as credible as, if not more so, than the declarant's 
testimony at trial that the statement was accurate when 
made." (Slip at 25-26) 

The methodology set forth in Nava, which is based directly on the 

ruling in Alvarado, is analogous to the method commonly used to address 

recanted testimony in a CrR 7.8 setting. CrR 7.8(b)(2) allows the trial court to 

grant a party relief from a final judgment based on newly discovered 

evidence. A trial court's ruling on a CrR 7.8 motion for relief from judgment 

is also reviewed for abuse of discretion. State v. Robinson, 1 04 W n.App. 

657, 662, 17 P.3d 653 (2001). Recantation testimony may be considered 

"'newly discovered evidence"' to support a motion for relief from judgment. 

State v. Macon, 128 Wn.2d 784,799-800,911 P.2d 1004 (1996); CrR 

7 .8(b )(2). But this court has ruled that "( r ]ecantation testimony is inherently 

questionable," and does not necessarily entitle the defendant to a new trial. 

Macon, 128 Wn.2d at 801. The testimony of Orozco is clearly ofthis nature. 

The ruling in Alvarado, Derouin and White comport with the law set 

forth in State v. Macon, where this Court recognized that "[i]t is for the trial 

court to determine whether the original testimony of a recanting witness was 
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perjured and, if so, whether the jury's verdict was likely influenced by it." 128 

Wn.2d 784,801,911 P.2d 1004 (1996). The court also clarified that whether 

there is independent evidence to support the recanting witness's original 

testimony is not a controlling factor in the trial court's determination. 

Macon, 128 Wn.2d at 804. Rather, the court observed, "'[w]hen the trial 

court, after careful consideration, has rejected such testimony, or has 

determined that it is of doubtful or insignificant value, its action will not 

lightly be set aside by an appellate court."' Macon, 128 Wn.2d at 804 

(alteration in original) (quoting State v. Wynn, 178 Wash. 287, 289, 34 P.2d 

900 ( 1934)). Thus, the court concluded, "the trial court does not abuse its 

discretion if it determines the recantation is unreliable and denies the 

defendant's motion for a new trial." Macon, 128 Wn.2d at 804 (emphasis 

omitted). 

Nava follows the decision as set forth in State v. Derouin, 116 

Wn.App. 38, 64 P.3d 35 (Wash.App. Div. 1 2003). Division III stated 

"Derouin was a domestic violence case and in deciding it, Division One of 

this court observed that broadly viewing evidence bearing on the accuracy of a 

statement "is especially relevant in cases of domestic violence since the victim 

may have a stronger motive to forget the past statement than to remember it." 

Derouin, 116 Wn. App. at 46; accord White, 152 Wn. App. at 184-85. 

Prosecutions for acts of gang-related violence may also depend upon 
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information provided by witnesses who, at trial, have a stronger motive to 

forget a past statement than to remember it." (Slip opinion at 28). The opinion 

is also analogous to the ruling in State v. White, 152 Wn.App. 173, 183-6,215 

P.3d 251 (Wash.App. Div. l 2009) where Division I stated: 

In State v. Alvarado. this court held that the requirement that a recorded 
recollection accurately reflect the witness's knowledge may be satisfied 
without the witness's direct verification of accuracy at trial. 89 Wash.App. 
543,551,949 P.2d 831 (1998). 

Therefore, " [t]he court must examine the totality of the circumstances, 
including (1) whether the witness disavows accuracy; (2) whether the witness 
averred accuracy at the time of making the statement; (3) whether the 
recording process is reliable; and ( 4) whether other indicia of reliability 
establish the trustworthiness ofthe statement." Id. at 551-552,949 P.2d 831. 

White argues that the State failed to establish that the police statement 
accurately reflected Whitson's prior knowledge of the event or that it is 
accurate under the Alvarado test. White correctly notes that Whitson did not 
testify that the statement accurately reflected her prior knowledge. Moreover, 
White claims that the police statement fails under the Alvarado test, because 
Whitson explicitly testified that White was not at the park-and-ride on July 4, 
2007, thus disavowing the accuracy of the statement. White also argues that 
there is no basis to support the trustworthiness of the statement, as recorded by 
Officer Coleman. 

The State counters that in domestic violence cases, other indicia, even 
where the victim denies making the statement, may establish the 
trustworthiness and accuracy of a recorded statement. State v. Derouin, 116 
Wash.App. 38, 45-6, 64 P.3d 35 (2003). In Derouin. the victim of domestic 
violence provided a written statement to police, but at the trial testified that 
she did not recall giving the statement to the police and could not recall 
anything about the incident. !d. at 41, 64 P.3d 35. We held the trial court erred 
in not admitting the statement as a prior recorded recollection, because the 
victim had never disavowed the accuracy of the prior statement, instead she 
denied any recollection of it. Id. at 46, 64 P.3d 35. At the time the victim 
made the statement, she signed it as recorded by the officer after being warned 
that she was doing so under penalty of perjury. I d. Moreover, although the 
statement had been written by a police officer, the accuracy of "the recording 
process was not so unreliable as to prevent the statement's admission. Any 
inaccuracies within the statement due to the recording process can be argued 
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at trial and should go to the weight, not the admissibility of the evidence." ld. 
Last, because other indicia of reliability weighed in favor of admitting the 
statement, the statement was erroneously excluded. Jd. at 47, 64 P.3d 35. 

The testimonial evidence relied upon in White is very similar to that 

set forth in Nava's trial (See Appendix): 

Here, Officer Coleman testified that he wrote the statement as narrated 
by Whitson. He then read it back to Whitson, who had an opportunity to 
correct any errors. Subsequently, Whitson signed both pages, under penalty of 
perjury, and initialed each to show the beginning and end of the statement. 
Whitson testified that she spoke to a police officer on the day of the assault. 
When presented with a copy of her statement to police, Whitson identified the 
signatures on the statement as hers. But Whitson could not remember if the 
statement accurately reflected what she told the police, because she was "too 
intoxicated" on July 4. Officer Coleman testified that he did not observe any 
signs that Whitson was intoxicated on the day of the assault. While upset, she 
was "certainly functional." White emphasizes that Whitson testified that she 
did not see him on the day of the assault, thereby undermining the accuracy of 
the statement she gave the police. But, Whitson herself, even after reading the 
statement on the stand, did not disavow the accuracy of the statement. 

Here, other evidence of reliability weighs in favor of admitting the 
statement, including the 911 tape, where Whitson identifies White as her 
attacker. White testified that it is her voice on the tape. The totality of the 
circumstances support the trial court's ruling that that the police statement is 
supported by sufficient indicia of reliability. We hold that the trial court did 
not abuse its discretion in admitting Whitson's statement. (Footnote omitted.) 
(White at 186) 

Other courts have concluded that the foundational requirement that the 

statement reflect the witness's knowledge correctly can be established by 

means other than the testimony of the declarant witness vouching for the 

statement's accuracy. E.g., United States v. Porter. 986 F.2d 1014, 1017 (6th 

Cir.l993) (6th Cir.), cert. denied, 114 S.Ct. 347 (1993).; State v. Marcy, 680 

A.2d 76, 79-80 (Vt.l996) (plurality opinion). Porter. 986 F.2d at 1017, 
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preceded Alvarado in Porter. the court construed Federal Rules of Evidence 

(FRE) Rule 803(5), which is identical to HRE Rule 802.1(4). The court 

concluded that: 

[FRE] Rule 803(5) does not specify any particular method of 
establishing the knowledge of the declarant nor the accuracy of the 
statement. It is not a sine qua non of admissibility that the witness 
actually vouch for the accuracy of the written memorandum. 
Admissibility is, instead, to be determined on a case-by-case basis 
upon a consideration, as was done by the district court in this case, of 
factors indicating trustworthiness, or the lack thereof. 
ld. at 1017. 

The court in Porter upheld the admission of portions of a prior written 

statement made by the defendant's girlfriend as past recollection recorded 

even though the girlfriend never testified that the statement was accurate. ld. 

The court concluded that the requirement ofFRE Rule 803(5) that the 

statement correctly reflected the girlfriend's knowledge was satisfied by other 

indicia of the statement's trustworthiness. See also Impson v. State, 721 

N.E.2d 1275, 1282-3 (Ind.App. 2000); 

Finally, we note that Ind.Evidence Rule 803(5) provides an 
exception to the hearsay rule for a memorandum or record if 
(a) the memorandum or record relates to a matter about which 
a witness once had knowledge, (b) the witness has insufficient 
recollection at trial to enable the witness to testify fully and 
accurately, (c) the witness is shown to have made or adopted 
the memorandum or record, (d) the memorandum or record 
was adopted when the matter was fresh in the witness's 
memory, and (e) the memorandum or record is shown to reflect 
the witness's knowledge correctly. Here, the battery affidavit 
relates to the attack upon Lori by Impson. Lori's denial at trial 
of the specifics of the attack serves as the "insufficient 
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recollection" required by (b) above. See Miller, 13 Indiana 
Practice § 803.105, at 631 (1995) (citing 2 McCormick § 282, 
at 258 (4th ed.l992) for the proposition that "courts have found 
'insufficient memory' when an apparently reluctant witness 
claims lack of memory to evade a question"). The signing of 
the affidavit on the same day as the attack arguably shows a 
timely adoption of the statement while the matter was fresh in 
Lori's memory. Finally, the affidavit's consistency with the 
statements made by Lori to the investigating officers and to 
Jerry is indicative that it reflects Lori's knowledge correctly. 
See U.S. v. Porter. 986 F.2d 1014, 1017 (6th Cir.1993), cert. 
denied, 510 U.S. 933, 114 S.Ct. 347, 126 L.Ed.2d 312 (court 
determined that prior statements detail and internal consistency 
established its accuracy). 

In this case the trial court was aware of and used Alvarado when 

discussing the use ofthe recorded statements. (RP 127) Throughout the 

process of determining if the recorded statements would be used the parties 

discussed and used this case as their legal guidance. The trial court was also 

aware of State v. Floreck, Ill Wn. App. 135,43 P.3d 1264 (2002) (RP 148) 

The Court of Appeals in its decision acknowledged that this 

There were four individuals who were called whose statements had 

been recorded prior to trial. As stated in by the Court of Appeals; 

The procedure followed by the trial court with Mr. Orozco and 
later witnesses was for the State to first call the witness; for the 
lawyers to examine and cross-examine the witness to the extent 
possible about the night of the shooting; and, when the witness's 
ability to testify to relevant matters was exhausted, to excuse the 
jury. Outside the presence of the jury, the State presented evidence 
bearing on the remaining elements of the required foundation, 
including playing the proffered tape-recorded statement. The trial 
court then heard argument from the lawyers; ruled on the 
admissibility of the recording; and, if it found the recording 
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admissible, allowed the State to play the recording for the jury 
after which the witness would be subject to further examination 
and cross-examination. (Slip Opinion at 11-12) 

Mr. Peter Lopez was called his statement was not challenged. The 

next witness called was Mr. Orozco was the only person who made any 

statement which would or could be construed as a disavowal of the prior 

recording and even he did not specifically state that what he said on the 

recording was untrue. When he was asked if he was lying to the police in the 

recording he state: 

A I probably was. I'm a liar. 
Q Okay. 
A I lie to my wife, I lie to everybody. 
Q Why would you have lied to the police at that time? 
A I wanted to go home, man, they scare me. I just wanted to go home. 

Mr. Orozco stated a couple more times that he "probably" lied to the 

police before the court the matter was taken addressed by the parties outside 

the presence of the jury. This is not a disavowal of the prior statement. The 

trial court addressed the edicts of Alvarado and determined as did the Court of 

Appeals, that these recordings should be admitted. 

Further, no matter what terminology is used by the Court of Appeals it

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